

**BYLAWS
HIDE-A-WAY LAKE CLUB, INC.**

Revised 06-15-18

ARTICLE I. PURPOSE

Section One. The purpose of Hide-A-Way Lake Club, Inc., is to acquire, construct, manage, maintain, and care for Club property, the rights and the interests of the owners of lots, residences, or residential units, and to operate and maintain the recreational, social, and cultural facilities for the exclusive use of Hide-A-Way Lake Club, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as “the Club” or “Club”), members, and their guests.

Section Two. All charters, bylaws, and regulations of corporations, associations, or other entities interconnected with the Club, shall be consistent with the bylaws of the Club. The bylaws of the Club shall be controlling if any conflict is found between any charters, bylaws, and regulations of corporations, associations or other entities interconnected with the Club.

ARTICLE II. OFFICES

Section One. Principal Office. The principal office of the Club shall be located on the premises known as Hide-A-Way Lake Club, Inc., 101 Hide-A-Way Lane Central, Hideaway, Smith County, Texas, 75771.

Section Two. Registered Office. The Club shall have and shall continuously maintain a registered office and a registered agent whose address is identical with such registered office as required by the Texas Non-Profit Corporation Act. The registered office may, but need not be, identical with the principal office. The address of the registered office and designation of the registered agent shall only be changed by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE III. MEMBERS

Section One. Qualifications. All persons who are owners of membership lots in Hide-A-Way Lake or Lake Hide-A-Way Subdivisions in Smith County, Texas, shall be qualified to be elected as members of the Club, by action of the Board of Directors and upon the recommendation of the Membership Committee. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, in the event fee title to any membership lot is owned by an entity, including, but not limited to trusts, partnerships, and other joint holdings, said entity shall be deemed the member, with only two (2) designated individuals of the group of owners of such membership lot to be qualified to be elected as members of the Club at any time. All other owners of such membership lot have guest status only and are subject to all rules and regulations applicable to members. In the event where a membership lot is owned jointly by more than one individual, all owners shall be deemed members of the Club, but shall designate only two (2) individuals of the group of owners of such membership lot to be qualified for full membership privileges related to access and use of common areas of responsibility. All other owners shall be deemed to have guest status only and are subject to all rules and regulations applicable to members.

The Club shall require, in order to determine membership eligibility or rights, submission of all appropriate documentation relating to ownership or marital status, including, but not limited to, information relating to inheritance, transfers of property, separation or divorce agreements, and similar relevant information.

Section Two. Family Members. Members’ children who are unmarried, under twenty-five (25) years of age, and either residing with their parents, actively serving in the armed forces of the United States, or attending full time an institution of higher learning, shall be allowed to use facilities of the Club, subject to parental approval. Members’ spouses who have no ownership interest in membership lots shall be allowed to use facilities of the Club, so long as their spouses remain members, but the extension to them of this privilege does not confer any personal or property rights on such non-member

spouses. All persons described in this section shall have no other membership privileges or rights and are subject to all rules and regulations applicable to members.

Section Three. **Definitions.**

(A) **Membership Lot:** Any platted lot which is a part of Hide-A-Way Lake or Lake Hide-A-Way subdivisions in Smith County, Texas, to which a membership is attached.

(B) **Restricted Use Lot:** Any platted lot which is part of the Hide-A-Way Lake or Lake Hide-A-Way subdivisions in Smith County, Texas, which is dedicated to use as road, parking lot, or other common purpose, or which is unsuitable for residential construction as determined by the Board of Directors, and to which no Club membership is attached.

(C) **Master Lot:** The membership lot designated as “Master” by the owner(s). All membership dues, charges, and related paperwork shall be, for record-keeping purposes, connected to this membership lot. The “Master” Lot provides voting rights to owners. Under no circumstances shall any membership designate more than one (1) lot as “Master”.

Section Four. Application. All applicants for membership shall file with the administrative office of the Club a written and notarized application in such form as the Board of Directors may specify from time to time. The application shall then be presented to the Membership Committee for consideration and investigation. Not later than forty-five (45) days after the application is filed, the Membership Committee shall submit its recommendation to the Board of Directors if no further information is requested by the Membership Committee. If the Board requires further information from the Membership Committee or the applicant it shall be submitted to the Board within fourteen (14) days. The Board of Directors then shall either accept or reject the application. A majority vote of the Board of Directors shall be required for acceptance of a member. Grounds for rejection of membership shall include, but not be limited to the following: (a) the inability of the Board to confirm identity of the applicant, ownership of the property, or the identity of anyone who may reside on the property, (b) evidence that the applicant or anyone who may reside on the property has a history of a criminal background, breaching, or not complying with federal, state, local laws, private club or HOA rules, regulations, and bylaws, (c) and FICO or other credit rating agency of less than “GOOD” credit pursuant to guidelines of the rating agency. An applicant who has been rejected may not reapply for membership within one (1) calendar year from the date of rejection. The Board of Directors and the Membership Committee shall keep written minutes showing the meeting date, the names of persons admitted to membership, and the names of any persons whose membership was rejected.

Section Five. Voting Rights. A Master Lot shall be entitled to two (2) votes on any proposition submitted to a vote of the members of the Club. Any such membership's voting rights shall be limited to the votes associated with the Master Lot. Division of ownership of any Master Lot shall not increase the voting rights allocable to such lot, and in no event shall more than two (2) votes be cast with respect to any one (1) Master Lot. In the event fee title to any Master Lot be owned by more than one (1) person or entity, the vote of a majority of such ownership constitutes the vote allocable to such membership, and any dispute as to what constitutes a majority of such owners shall be determined by the Board of Directors of the Club, and such determination is final.

Section Six. Member Rules Compliance. Membership in the Club includes the obligation and condition of compliance with these bylaws, with deed restrictions or restrictive covenants applicable to a member's property, and with other rules and regulations issued under the authority of the Board of Directors. Compliance with Club bylaws, restrictions, rules, and regulations shall be pursued as set forth below.

(A) *Community Compliance Committee.* The Board of Directors shall appoint two (2) of its members and three (3) regular Club members to serve on a Community Compliance Committee. The Community Compliance Committee shall elect its chairman from the approved committee members.

(B) *Notifications.* Notifications of violations and penalties shall be given by the general manager or his/her designee as required by the Texas Property Code (hereinafter referred to as "TRP") Section 209.006.

(C) *Informal Review.* Penalties may, at the violator's option, be initially appealed to the general manager. The general manager may, after a review of available evidence: (1) determine that there is insufficient evidence to justify adjusting the penalty; (2) determine that there is sufficient evidence to justify and uphold the penalty; (3) or determine that there are facts or circumstances that justify mitigating the penalty. Neither a request for informal review by the general manager nor his disposition of the request affects the violator's rights to a hearing before the Community Compliance Committee, nor does a request for an informal review affect the requirements for requesting a hearing in a timely manner.

(D) *Hearings.* The Community Compliance Committee shall conduct hearings: (1) on matters for which a member requests a hearing under the requirements of TRP Section 209.007; (2) and on matters involving repeated or serious violations referred to the committee by the committee chair, the chief of security, or the general manager.

(E) *Formal Hearing Procedures.* The Club and the member have the right to present witnesses and to have counsel present at the hearing. Each party may present pertinent testimony and evidence. Cross-examination shall not be permitted by either party. Questions shall be directed to the committee chair, and the committee chair or committee members may ask questions of either party.

(F) *Hearing Decisions.* Following the hearing, the Community Compliance Committee shall decide: (1) to confirm the penalty previously assessed under Club rules; (2) to adjust the penalty; (3) to allow the performance of community service as an alternative to other penalties; (4) to suspend any or all privileges; (5) and/or to levy fines of up to five hundred dollars (\$500) per offense, as specified by rules and regulations adopted by the Board of Directors. If a member is suspended by action of the Community Compliance Committee, reinstatement shall be by authority of the Committee or as per appeal to the Board of Directors.

(G) *Further Appeals.* Members shall have the right to file, within thirty (30) days of a Community Compliance Committee decision, a further appeal in writing to the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall conduct the hearing in accordance with the requirements of TRP Section 209.007 and shall determine whether to uphold, overturn, or adjust the decision of the committee.

Section Seven. Suspension and Expulsion. In addition to other provisions of these bylaws which may result in member suspension, the Board of Directors, by affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the members of the Board, may suspend from Club privileges and/or expel from Club facilities and common property (with the exception of travel to and from a member's own property) any member, family member of a member, or a non-member resident for cause shown after appropriate notice and hearing. Causes for suspension of Club privileges or expulsion from Club property may include serious or repeated violations of Club bylaws, rules or regulations, violations of deed restrictions or restrictive covenants, and acts or conditions which represent a threat to the health, safety, or welfare of other members, residents, or guests. A member, family member of a member, or a non-member resident cited for potential suspension and/or expulsion shall receive written specification of charges, and may request a hearing before the Board of Directors with the opportunity to call witnesses and cross-examine witnesses, either personally or by counsel. Suspension and/or expulsion of a member shall not relieve the said member from obligation to pay all dues or charges accruing against any lot or lots owned by the said member.

Section Eight. **Reinstatement.** The Board of Directors may, by two-thirds (2/3) vote of its members, reinstate to Club privileges a member, a family member of a member, or a non-member resident who has submitted a written request for such reinstatement. Any suspended or expelled member shall fully satisfy any delinquent dues and charges owed before reinstatement.

Section Nine. **Transfer.** Membership in the Club is not transferable, except by inheritance or transfer by will, trust instrument, or family settlement agreement, subject to meeting the membership requirements defined in Sections One through Four of this Article.

Section Ten. **Identification and Registration.** The Board of Directors may, at its discretion, require identification and registration as a condition of use of Club facilities in order to assist in planning, regulation, or operational efficiency, on either a permanent or temporary basis.

Section Eleven. **Liability of Member.** Each member shall be liable for all charges made by use of any card issued at a member's request or instruction. Each member shall be liable for any damage to Club property caused by the member, guests, or tenant of the member.

Section Twelve. **Private Clubs.** All members of the Club are eligible to become members of any private club created by the Board of Directors in accordance with rules, regulations, and conditions prescribed by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE IV. MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

Section One. **Annual Meeting.** An annual meeting of the members of the Club shall be held in April each year on a day and time selected by the Board of Directors. The purposes of the meeting are: (a) to provide a formal report to the membership on financial condition of the Club, the status of major projects, and any major issues or concerns identified by the Board of Directors; (b) and to ratify the actions of the Board of Directors since the previous annual meeting.

Section Two. **Informational Meetings.** Special community meetings to provide the membership with information on important matters of Club business or to provide information on matters to be considered in a general membership referendum may be called by the Board of Directors by a majority vote of its members.

Section Three. **Notices of Meetings.** Notices of meetings of the members shall be given by three (3) of the following methods: (a) written or printed notice transmitted to each membership eligible to vote by United States mail at the most current address according to the Club records mailed not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days in advance of the meeting; (b) prominently published notice in a newspaper of general circulation in the community published not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days in advance of the meeting; (c) by electronic email not less than seventy-two (72) hours before the start of the meeting to an email address provided by the member; (d) posting the notice in a public location at the exterior of the Club administration building not less than seventy-two (72) hours in advance of the meeting; (e) or posting on the Club web site not less than seventy-two (72) hours in advance of the meeting. Such notice is not subject to waiver and shall be given in sufficient detail to clearly identify the subject matter involved.

ARTICLE V. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section One. **General Powers.** The affairs of the Club shall be managed by a Board of Directors which is responsible to the membership for its authority and actions. The Board of Directors is empowered to employ such personnel as necessary to conduct the business of the Club. The Board of Directors shall take official actions only as a collective body, and no

director shall, without specific authorization by the Board or specific authority set forth under these bylaws, act on behalf of the Board.

Section Two. Number, Tenure, and Qualifications. The number of directors shall be twelve (12). Each director shall be chosen in the manner specified elsewhere in these bylaws. The term of each director shall be for three (3) years except as provided in Section Three of this Article. The terms shall be staggered so that four (4) terms expire each year and four (4) directors are elected each year.

Any individual that owns property within the Hide-A-Way Lake or Lake Hide-A-Way subdivisions in Smith County, Texas is eligible to run for a position on the Board of Directors. If an entity owns property in the Hide-A-Way Lake or Lake Hide-A-Way subdivisions in Smith County, Texas only the individuals qualified as members of the Club under the terms of Article III, Section 1, of these bylaws are eligible to run for a position on the Board of Directors on behalf of that entity. Any individual shall be immediately ineligible to serve on the Board, if the member has been convicted of a felony or crime involving moral turpitude within the last twenty (20) years.

Section Three. Vacancies. Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors for any reason shall be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors. A director so designated to fill a vacancy has the same voting rights as the elected directors and serves for the remainder of the unexpired term of the replaced director.

Section Four. Meetings. Board meeting means a deliberation between a quorum of the voting members of the Board of Directors of the Club or between a quorum of the voting members of the Board of Directors and another person, during which Club business is considered and the board takes formal action. The agenda for the meetings shall be prominently posted at the office of the Club, placed on the Club web site and sent by electronic email to an address provided by the member. If a member provides the Club an email address, it is the member's responsibility to advise the Club of an updated email address.

Section Five. Regular Board Meetings. The Board of Directors shall hold at least one (1) regular meeting each month at a time and place determined by the Board. The agenda and notice shall be given by three (3) of the following methods: (a) written or printed notice transmitted to each membership eligible to vote by United States mail at the most current address according to the Club records mailed not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days in advance of the meeting; (b) by electronic email not less than seventy-two (72) hours before the start of the meeting to an email address provided by the member; (c) posting the notice in a public location at the exterior of the Club administration building not less than five (5) days in advance of the meeting; or (d) by placing on the Club web site not less than seventy-two (72) hours before the start of the meeting.

Section Six. Special Board Meetings. The President or any three (3) members of the Board may call a special meeting to consider the agenda items embodied in the call. Notice of such meeting shall be given by telephone, electronic message, or in person to each Board member not less than seventy-two (72) hours prior to the specified time of the meeting. Increases in dues, fees, or charges are expressly excluded from consideration at special meetings. The agenda and notice shall be given: (a) by electronic email not less than seventy-two (72) hours before the start of the meeting to an email address provided by the member; (b) posting the notice in a public location at the exterior of the Club administration building not less than seventy-two (72) hours in advance of the meeting; and (c) by placing on the Club web site not less than seventy-two (72) hours before the start of the meeting.

Section Seven. Informal Meetings. Informal meetings of the Board of Directors are defined as a meeting wherein there is a quorum of members of the Board of Directors and no binding action shall be taken. The Board of Directors may hold informal meetings to receive reports and testimony and to discuss Club-related business. The Board may, and is encouraged

to, make use of special skills, knowledge, and interests of Club members in connection with Club affairs. Seventy-two (72) hours' notice to Board members, by telephone, electronic message, or in person, is required to call an informal meeting. The agenda shall be given at least seventy-two (72) hours prior to the time set for such meeting as required in Article Five Section Four.

Section Eight. **Adjourned or Recessed Meetings.** If the board adjourns or recesses a regular board, special board, or informal meeting, the board is required to post notice as indicated in Article Five Section Four if the meeting is postponed for more than one (1) business day. The notice shall be made no more than two (2) hours after recessing of the meeting.

Section Nine. **Emergency Meetings.** There may be occasions where there is an emergency of such consequence that it would be unprofitable or present a potential liability for the membership of the Club if immediate action is not taken. The President of the Board of Directors, with the approval of one other officer of the Board of Directors, may call an "Emergency Board Meeting". This meeting shall meet the requirements of TRP 209.0051(h). The emergency board meeting shall not be subject to notification requirements of Article Five Section Four.

Section Ten. **Conduct of Meetings.** The physical presence of a majority of the members of the Board of Directors constitutes a quorum and each Board member is entitled to vote. Regardless of the number of Board members physically present, an affirmative vote of the majority of all members of the Board is required for the passage of any proposal, unless a greater number is required by these bylaws. The Board may adjourn any meeting to a specified date and time in order to dispose of matters remaining from its previously announced agenda. Participation by Club members in inquiries, testimony, and comments is at the discretion of the presiding officer, subject to the overriding vote of a majority of the members of the Board of Directors. Strict decorum will be maintained and all matters of procedures are governed by Robert's Rules of Order, newly revised, except where such rules conflict with the express terms and provisions of these bylaws, or rules and regulations adopted by the Board. Voting by proxy is not allowed.

Section Eleven. **Open Meetings.** All official actions of the Board, except those for which executive (closed) sessions are authorized, shall be taken in open regular or special meetings after required notice and publication of agenda items. Required notice of such meetings shall not be waived. All meetings of the Board of Directors are open to Club members except closed executive sessions to consider the following matters: (a) actions involving personnel; (b) pending or threatened litigation; (c) contract negotiations; (d) enforcement actions; (e) confidential communications with the Club's attorney; (f) or matters involving the invasion of privacy of individual owners, or matters that are to remain confidential by request of the affected parties and agreement of the Board. All discussions in a closed executive session shall be considered confidential and shall not be disclosed unless there is a legal requirement to disclose. Following an executive session, any decision made in the executive session shall be summarized orally and placed in the minutes, in general terms, without breaching the privacy of individual owners, violating any privilege, or disclosing information that was to remain confidential at the request of the affected parties. The oral summary shall include a general explanation of expenditures approved in executive session.

The Board shall keep a record of each regular or special meeting in the form of written minutes of the meeting. The Board shall make meeting records, with the exclusion of closed executive sessions, including approved minutes, available to a member for inspection and copying on the member's written request to the Club's managing agent or to the Board.

Section Twelve. **Compensation.** No director or committee member shall receive remuneration for his services other than reimbursement for reasonable expenses incurred in connection with Club business and authorized under policies established by the Board of Directors.

Section Thirteen. **Censure and Removal.** By two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Board of Directors, any director may be removed from office for: (a) cause specified in these bylaws; (b) or cause set forth in any applicable state law for the

removal of such officers. Cause for removal includes, but is not limited to: (a) conviction of a felony or a crime of moral turpitude; (b) conflict of interest; (c) failure to disclose financial interests in matters before the Board; (d) gross mental or physical incapacity which renders participation in the business of the Board impossible; (e) abuse of authority; (f) and/or excessive absence. Abuse of authority includes: (a) actions outside specified authority; (b) actions in violation of bylaws, rules, regulations, or other Club governing documents; (c) improper and/or unauthorized representations of Board policies, rules, regulations, or other governing documents; (d) and/or issuance of orders or instructions to employees. Excessive absence means absence from more than twenty-five (25) percent of the scheduled regular meetings of the board in a twelve (12) month period.

By majority vote of the Board of Directors, any director may be censured (formally rebuked or reprimanded). Causes for censure include, but are not limited to: (a) conflict of interest; (b) abuse of authority; (c) and/or excessive absence.

Any director cited for potential censure or removal from office shall receive a written specification of charges, a public hearing after due notice, and an opportunity to call witnesses and cross-examine witnesses either personally or by counsel, any of which rights may be waived by the director in question. Votes on censure or removal shall be taken by written ballot. Resignation from office shall terminate all proceedings that might result in censure or removal against a director without impairing his or her right to seek re-election at the next regular election of directors.

Upon filing of a petition for removal of a director or directors bearing the signatures of not less than twenty percent (20%) of the members of the Club, the Board of Directors shall call for a vote by the members of the Club, to determine by simple majority of those voting if the director in question shall be recalled from office. The petition shall state in not more than two hundred (200) words specific reasons why any such director or directors should be removed.

Section Fourteen. Conflict of Interest. A director shall abstain from advocacy of or voting on any matter which involves an actual or potential conflict of interest between the director's personal relationships or those of the director's immediate family and the affairs of the Club. A director shall not advocate, participate, or vote in matters involving any business, partnership, organization, or corporation of which the director or a member of the director's family is an owner, partner, director, chairperson, officer, employee, trustee, or a person in a position of authority or leadership. A director shall accept nothing of material value from any person doing or seeking to do business with the Club, under penalty of removal from office, and shall not exhibit favoritism toward any individual doing business with, employed by, or holding membership in the Club.

Section Fifteen. Rules and Regulations. The Board of Directors may, at its discretion, adopt procedural rules for the Board and the Club, and shall enact rules and regulations governing use of Club facilities consistent with these bylaws or governing rules and statutes, necessary for the health, safety, and welfare of the membership and the maintenance and protection of the Club's facilities and other assets. The Board of Directors is authorized to initiate and proceed with all legal remedies, including but not limited to filing of judicial proceedings, to ensure enforcement and compliance with the Club rules and regulations.

Variations to the Club Rules and Regulations adopted by the Board of Directors shall not be granted by the General Manager. The Board of Directors shall not approve variations to the Rules and Regulations without a hearing involving the members requesting the variance. Rules and regulations variance hearings may be held by a committee designated by the Board of Directors which may recommend the variance to the Board of Directors for approval. Such Board approved variations are only for the member involved in the variance request and shall not create a binding change to the rules and regulations.

Section Sixteen. Construction Standards and Building Code. The Board of Directors shall adopt and require enforcement of appropriate standards governing all construction within the boundaries of the Club. It shall require the

issuance of permits prior to the following: (a) construction of any structure; (b) clearing of land, prior to or as a part of any construction; (c) major alteration and/or additions to any existing structure; (d) and installation of sanitary and other facilities as a part of any construction. The Board shall prescribe conditions for land usage designed to protect health and property, and for environmental protection and enhancement. The Board of Directors is authorized to initiate and proceed with all legal remedies, including but not limited to filing of judicial proceedings, to ensure enforcement and compliance with the Club construction standards and building code.

Variances to the Club Construction Standards and Building Code adopted by the Board of Directors shall not be granted by the General Manager. The Board of Directors shall not approve variances to the Construction Standards or Building Code without a notification to the owners of lots within a 300 foot radius of each corner of the lot requesting the variance that a variance meeting will be held and the subject of that meeting. Construction Standards and Building Code variance hearings may be held by the Property Stewardship Committee or by a committee designated by the Board of Directors which may recommend the variance to the Board of Directors for approval. Such Board approved variances are only for the property involved in the variance request and shall not create a binding change to the Construction Standards and Building Code.

Section Seventeen. Management and Personnel. Management of Club services, operations, and personnel shall be carried out by a general manager appointed by – and subject to removal by – the Board of Directors. The general manager shall be appointed based on his or her professional qualifications and experience. The general manager shall have the duties and responsibilities set forth in a job description and Code of Ethics approved by the Board of Directors. The general manager shall affirm by signature, a Code of Ethics, upon entering employment with the Club. The general manager shall be held accountable by the Board of Directors for the expectations identified within the job description and Code of Ethics. Board members shall not give direction, supervision, or direct criticism to department heads or other employees. If a situation arises the board member and the general manager shall meet to discuss the board members concerns.

ARTICLE VI. OFFICERS

Section One. Officers. The officers of the Club shall be a President, a Vice President, a Secretary, and a Treasurer, to be elected by the Board of Directors from among its membership.

Section Two. Election and Term of Office. The officers of the Club shall be elected by the Board of Directors at the first regular meeting of the Board in July of each year after the swearing in ceremony of the newly elected board members. Each officer shall hold office until his/her successor is qualified and elected. The election for President shall be conducted by the immediate past President and the election of the other officers shall be conducted by the newly elected President. No proxies are allowed in the election of officers. Voting shall be by closed ballot. The candidate for the office receiving the largest number of votes cast by those Board members present and voting shall be declared elected. The board clerk shall tally the votes and present them to the presiding officer for announcement of the results.

Section Three. Appointed Officers. The Board of Directors may appoint additional persons as needed, such as Assistant Secretaries or Assistant Treasurers. Such officers, if not members of the Board, have no vote, serve at the direction and pleasure of the Board of Directors, and have such duties or responsibilities as prescribed by the Board of Directors or by the principal officer being assisted.

Section Four. Removal. Any officer elected by the Board of Directors may be removed as an officer upon the affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the Board members.

Section Five. **Vacancies.** The Board of Directors shall elect a member from the Board of Directors to fill any vacancy of a Club board officer. The candidate for the vacancy receiving the largest number of votes cast by those Board members present and voting shall be declared elected. The election of said director shall be effective for the unexpired portion of the term of that office.

Section Six. **President.** The President shall be the presiding officer of the Club and shall perform all duties incident to the office of President designated by these bylaws and the Board of Directors. The President shall appoint all committee Chairpersons of active committees of the Board, with the exception of the Elections Committee (Article XII), the Audit Committee (Article VII) and the Community Compliance Committee (Article III). The President shall not chair any committee. The President is the direct supervisor of the general manager and shall maintain all personnel records for the general manager position. The President as direct supervisor of the general manager, without specific Board authorization shall not give directions to the general manager. The President shall be responsible for faithful performance of duties by committees appointed under his/her authority and may, at his/her discretion, replace any non-performing committee member. The President is an ex-officio, non-voting member of all committees.

Section Seven. **Vice President.** In the absence, inability, or refusal of the President to act, the Vice President shall perform the duties of President with the same powers and duties and subject to all restrictions applicable to the President. The Vice President shall perform other duties assigned by the President and Board of Directors.

Section Eight. **Treasurer.** The Treasurer, in addition to other duties as a member of the Board of Directors, shall be Chair of the Finance Committee and has general oversight of all funds and securities of the Club. The Treasurer shall appoint the members of the Audit Committee subject to board approval. The Treasurer is responsible for the presentation of a monthly financial report to the Board of Directors at the regular monthly board meeting. The monthly report shall be presented no more than ninety (90) days past the end of the reported month.

Section Nine. **Secretary.** The Secretary, in addition to other duties as a member of the Board of Directors, shall be chairman of the Membership Committee and is responsible for the safekeeping of minutes, whether by manual or electronic devices, of called meetings of the members and of the Board of Directors, and for ensuring that all minutes are made available to the members upon proper request in accordance with the provisions of the Texas Non-Profit Corporation Act. The Secretary shall: (a) see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these bylaws or as required by law; (b) be custodian of the seal of the Club and see to its usage as prescribed by law or these bylaws; (c) be responsible for the maintenance and updating of a register of members bearing the post office address furnished by each such member along with such other information as may be required by the Board of Directors; (d) and shall perform such other duties as directed by the President and Board of Directors. The Secretary shall also ensure that any resolutions/motions passed by the Board of Directors pertaining to bylaws, rules or regulations are promptly entered into and made part of an updated version of the pertinent document.

ARTICLE VII. COMMITTEES

Section One. **Board Committees.** The Board of Directors creates such standing or ad hoc committees as it deems necessary to provide advice, conduct research, or otherwise assist the full board in its work. Committee members shall be Club members. Such committees shall include, at a minimum, a Finance Committee, an Audit Committee, a Membership Committee, an Election Committee, a Property Stewardship Committee and a Community Compliance Committee. The Chairs of these committees are Board members with the exception of the Audit Committee (see Section Four), the Election Committee (see Article XII, section One) and the Community Compliance Committee (see Article III, Section Six). Other Board committee Chairs may be Club members with specific expertise or Board Members. The President

appoints the Chairs of all committees with the exception of the Election Committee (Article XII Section One), the Audit Committee (Article VII, Section Four), and the Community Compliance Committee (Article III Section Six) subject to approval of the Board of Directors. The committee Chairs and members are appointed from the date of board approval until the completion of the regular board meeting in July. The committee Chair shall recommend to the Board the membership of their committee for Board approval with the exception of the Audit Committee (see Section Four), the Community Compliance Committee (Article III, Section Six), and the Election Committee (Article XII, Section One). The committee Chair has authority to remove any committee member and appoint a replacement subject to approval by the Board. The committee Chair is responsible for the production and distribution of the minutes of their committee meetings. Meeting minutes shall be submitted to the Secretary within one (1) week of the committee meeting. The Community Compliance Committee may make decisions as indicated in Article III, Section Six. The Election Committee may make decisions as indicated in Article XII Sections Two and Four. The Audit Committee may make decisions as indicated in Article VII Section Four. Other committees shall only make action recommendations to the Board.

Section Two. **Committee Meetings.** Meetings of Board-established committees shall be prominently posted at the office of the Club and placed on the Club web site at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance. They shall be open to members in the same manner and to the same extent as Board of Directors meetings, except that the meetings of the Community Compliance Committee and the Audit Committee shall be open only to the parties' involved and necessary staff members.

Section Three. **Finance Committee.** The Finance Committee is established to provide advice and assistance to the Board in its work. The committee reports to the Board.

(A) Membership. The Finance Committee consists of the Treasurer, who is Chair, no more than an additional two (2) members of the Board and a minimum of four (4) other members of the Club, subject to Board approval. The General Manager and the Club Controller will participate in the meetings of the committee as ex-officio, non-voting members and assist the committee with its work.

(B) Responsibilities. The responsibilities of the Finance Committee are as follows:

1. To regularly review the Club's financial condition, including review of the Club's financial statements, budget variances, and other reports prepared by the Club's Controller.
2. To review and make recommendations regarding financial policies and procedures.
3. To participate with the General Manager and Club Controller in long range financial planning for the Club.
4. To review and make recommendations regarding the annual budget and capital budget.
5. To provide oversight of banking relationships, designated cash reserve balances, employee benefit and retirement plans and general insurance programs.
6. To make recommendations regarding accounting and financial management resources.
7. To maintain minutes of meetings and regularly report to the Board on the results of its assigned responsibilities.
8. To review, within ninety (90) days after each new Board takes office, no later than the regular October Board meeting, the latest internal and external audit reports to determine the extent to which recommendations have been implemented and to report to the Board the status of recommendations that have been accepted by the Board.

Section Four. **Audit Committee.** The Audit Committee is established to conduct an annual internal audit. The committee reports to the Board. The committee has authority to examine all Club records and to interview any Club employee where such examination and inquiry is directly related to the committee's assigned responsibilities.

(A) Membership. The Treasurer shall appoint the members of the Audit Committee subject to board approval.

1. The committee consists of three (3) members of the Club not including the Treasurer with a background in accounting, finance, auditing, investments or a related field. The Treasurer shall be on the committee as an ex-officio non-voting member. No other board members shall be on the committee.
2. If less than three (3) cannot be found that have the necessary background in finance as described above, the Treasurer shall request the Board to obtain the services of a Certified Public Accountant or a Certified Public Accounting firm with a minimum of two bids based on written responsibility of duties based on (B) below. Any expenses associated with these services shall be approved by the Board prior to any contracting for the services.
3. The Club Controller shall meet with the committee and provide assistance as requested.

(B) Responsibilities. The responsibilities of the Audit Committee are as follows;

1. To test the reliability and integrity of the Club's financial reporting processes, controls, effectiveness and efficiency of operations.
2. To test the processes in place to safeguard Club assets.
3. To test the processes in place to ensure compliance with laws, regulations, contracts, Club policies and Club procedures.
4. To identify significant financial risk exposures and recommend steps to monitor, control, and report such exposures.
5. To prepare periodic reports to the Board of Directors and management regarding implementation of committee recommendations.
6. To prepare follow-up reports to the Board of Directors regarding implementation of committee recommendations.
7. To recommend the selection and appointment of independent external auditors, to review the auditors' engagement letter, scope of services, audit plan and audit schedules. To recommend to the Board of Directors inclusion in any audit or financial review such specific tests or examinations as the committee deems pertinent. To generally oversee the work of the independent auditors in preparation and issuance of a financial review or audit.
8. To maintain minutes of meetings and periodically report to the Board of Directors on the results of its assigned responsibilities.
9. To determine, within ninety (90) days after each new Board takes office, no later than the regular October Board meeting: (a) the trial balance of the most recent month's account balances recorded in the general ledger reflects the actual totals recorded in the various accounts of the general ledger and is consistent with the last financial statements presented to the Board of Directors; (b) and the Club's actual bank account and investments balances are consistent with the cash balances reported on the recent financial statements. The Committee shall have the ability to utilize the services of the Club's external auditors to make these determinations if necessary.

ARTICLE VIII. FINANCIAL CONTROL

Section One. **Contracts.** The President's signature and that of at least one (1) other officer shall be required on all documents authorized by the Board of Directors, including any deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts, or other instruments which the Board of Directors and/or membership may have authorized to be executed. The Board of Directors may

authorize any officer or the general manager of the Club, in addition to the officers so authorized by these bylaws, to enter into contracts or execute and deliver instruments in the name of and on behalf of the Club, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances. The general manager of the Club shall not enter into a contractual agreement with any party, when the representative of said party is a board member, without full disclosure to the Board of Directors and the Club membership, and approval from the Board of Directors. All contracts with any employee shall be authorized by the Board of Directors. All contracts shall be made available to a Club member on request. All contracts with a length of one (1) year or more shall be retained by the Club for a period of seven (7) years.

Section Two. Checks, Drafts or Order of Payment. All checks, drafts, or orders for payment of money, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Club shall be signed by such officers or authorized employees of the Club in such manner as shall be determined by resolution of the Board of Directors.

Section Three. Deposit. All funds of the Club shall be deposited to the credit of the Club in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as the Board of Directors shall select and approve by resolution

Section Four. Bonding. Any person who handles financial matters on behalf of the Club shall be bonded. Bonding shall be at the expense of the Club.

Section Five. Gifts. All or part of any memorial contribution, gift, bequest, or devise may only be accepted or rejected by the Board. If accepted, it shall be accepted for any general or specific purpose of the Club, with the understanding that any contribution, gift, bequest, or devise of property (other than cash) may be moved, modified, sold, transferred, removed or abandoned at a later time if such action is deemed by the Board, in the exercise of its sole discretion, to be in the best interest of the Club.

Section Six. Real Estate Transactions. Real estate transactions, including but not limited to purchases, sales, and leases shall require prior approval and authorization by the Board of Directors, in such manner as not to unduly delay the real estate transaction. Purchases of real estate that will benefit the Club, but not expand the platted boundaries of the Club nor require capital expenditures exceeding one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000) (see Article XII, Section Six, b-2 and b-3), may be made with the approval and authorization of the Board of Directors. This provision shall not apply to sales of Club lots for which prices and/or negotiating authority have been specifically delegated by the Board of Directors to a Board-appointed committee or the general manager.

Section Seven. Leases. All capital leases in excess of seven thousand five hundred dollars (\$7,500) per year shall be subject to approval by the Board of Directors. The general manager or his/her designee may execute any operating lease with a term of one (1) year or less without Board approval. The general manager shall notify the Board of such leases.

Section Eight. Budget. The general manager shall prepare with the active participation of the senior level supervisors, in line item form, a proposed annual budget for all operating departments of the Club, including projected income, operating, and capital expenditures. Total labor projections by full time equivalent position and department shall be included in the proposed annual budget. The proposed annual budget shall be presented to the Finance Committee for study, questions, and approval no later than October 15th of each year. Departmental supervisors shall be made available upon the request of the Finance Committee to meet with either the entire committee or with study groups of the committee as determined by the Finance Committee Chair. Financial and individual payroll records requested by the Finance Committee shall be made available within five (5) business days of the request without any form of access denial on the part of Club employees. The budget shall, after review and approval by the Finance Committee, be submitted to the Board of Directors for consideration and shall be publicly presented to the membership for information. The Board of Directors shall adopt a budget which includes projected operating and capital income equal to or in excess of operating

and capital expenditures. In addition, a projection, including all sources of revenue (including the various non-operating designated revenue sources), the operating profit result, and the projected capital expenditures, shall be submitted to indicate the overall uses and sources of cash and the incremental cash, if any, to be generated. The budget, including total labor force approval, shall be binding on the Board of Directors, Club management and Club employees unless amended by subsequent action of the Board of Directors.

Section Nine. Capital Expenditure Limitation. The Board of Directors shall authorize any capital expenditures in excess of seven thousand five hundred dollars (\$7,500).

Section Ten. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Club begins on the first (1st) day of January and ends on the thirty-first (31st) day of December each year.

Section Eleven. Financial Records. The Club shall maintain correct, true, and accurate financial records with full and correct entries made with respect to all financial transactions of the Club, including all income and expenditures, in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, and such information shall be reported at least quarterly to the members during Board of Directors meetings. All financial records of the Club shall be retained for a period of seven (7) years.

Section Twelve. Annual Reports. Based on these records, the Board of Directors shall annually have prepared and approve a report of financial activity of the Club for the preceding year. The report shall conform to accounting standards as promulgated by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and shall include a statement of support, revenue, expenses, changes in fund balances, functional expenses, and balance sheets for all funds.

Section Thirteen. Tax Returns and Audits. The annual Club tax return shall be prepared by an outside accounting firm. An accounting review conducted in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting Review Services (SSARS) or a full audit conducted in accordance with Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (GAAS) shall be performed annually by independent auditors. A full audit shall be conducted at least once every two (2) years. An internal audit, conducted by the Audit Committee, shall also be conducted each year. All tax returns and audits of the Club shall be retained for a period of seven (7) years.

Section Fourteen. Indemnification.

- (A) **Mandatory Indemnification: Directors or Officers Successful in Defense.** The Club must indemnify any person or the estate of any deceased person, such person or estate of any deceased person being (hereafter throughout this Article referred to as "Person") who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, arbitrative, or investigative (hereafter throughout this Article Eight collectively referred to as "Proceeding") by reason of the fact that he/she is or was a director or officer of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Association as a director, officer, partner, venture, proprietor, trustee, employee, committee member, volunteer, agent or similar functionary of another foreign or domestic corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, sole proprietorship, employee benefit plan or other enterprise (hereafter throughout this Article Eight collectively referred to as "Director") against expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, actually and reasonably incurred by them in connection therewith to the extent that he/she has been wholly successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of such Proceeding.
- (B) **Indemnification Whether Successful or Not in Defense.**

1. The Club must indemnify any present or former director or officer of the Club, or the estate of such a person, who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any Proceeding by reason of the fact that he/she is or was a Director, and the Club may indemnify any Person, other than a present or former director or officer of the Club, or the estate of such a person, who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any Proceeding by reason of the fact that he/she is or was a Director or employee or agent of the Club, against expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, actually and reasonably incurred by them, and against judgments, penalties, including excise and similar taxes, fines, and amounts paid in settlement by them in connection therewith if he/she acted in good faith and in a manner he/she reasonably believed, in the case of conduct in their official capacity, to be in the best interests of the Club; or, in all other cases, to be not opposed to the best interests of the Club; and, with respect to any criminal Proceeding, if he/she had no reasonable cause to believe their conduct was unlawful; provided, however, that if he/she is found liable to the Club or is found liable on the basis that personal benefit was improperly received by them, the indemnification provided pursuant to this Article VIII, Section 14, (B) , (a) is limited to expenses actually and reasonable incurred by them in connection with the Proceeding and (b) may not be made in respect of any Proceeding in which he/she has been found liable for willful or intentional misconduct in the performance of their duties to the Club. The termination of any Proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, will not, of itself, create a presumption that the Person did not act in good faith and in a manner which he/she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Club or, with respect to any criminal Proceeding, that he/she had reasonable cause to believe that their conduct was unlawful. A Person will be deemed to have been found liable in respect to any claim, issue or matter only after the Person has been so adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction after exhaustion of all appeals.
2. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Article, the Club must indemnify any Person as to whom indemnification is mandatory under Sections 14(A) or Section 14(B)1 of this Article to the fullest extent then permitted by laws.

(C) Indemnification Procedure. Any indemnification under Section 14(B) of this Article, unless ordered by a court or made pursuant to a determination by a court, may be made by the Association only as authorized in the specific cause upon a determination that indemnification of the Person is proper under the circumstances because the Person has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in Section 14(B). Such determination will be made:

1. By a majority vote of a quorum consisting of directors who at the time of the vote are not named defendants or respondents in the Proceeding;
2. If such quorum cannot be obtained, by a majority vote of a committee of the Board of Directors, designated to act in the matter by a majority vote of all directors, consisting solely of two (2) or more directors who at the time of the vote are not named defendants or respondents in the Proceeding; or
3. By special legal counsel selected by the Board of Directors or a committee of the Board by a vote as set forth in (a) or (b) immediately foregoing, or, if such a quorum cannot be obtained and such a committee cannot be established by a majority vote of all Directors.

(D) Authorization of Payment

1. Authorization of indemnification and determination as to reasonableness of expenses will be made in the same manner as the determination that indemnification is permissible, except that if special legal counsel

makes the latter determination, authorization of indemnification and determination as to reasonableness of expenses must be made:

- a. By a majority vote of a quorum consisting of directors who at the time of the vote are not named defendants or respondents in the Proceeding;
 - b. If such a quorum cannot be obtained, by a majority vote of a committee of the Board of Directors, designated to act in the matter by a majority vote of all directors, consisting solely of two (2) or more directors who at the time of the vote are not named defendants or respondents in the Proceeding; or
 - c. If such a committee cannot be established, by a majority vote of all directors.
2. Notwithstanding subsection 1 of this Section, payment of expenses actually and reasonably incurred by any Person as to whom indemnification is mandatory under Sections 14(A) or Section 14(B)1 of this Article will be deemed to be authorized provided that the standard of conduct necessary for indemnification under Section 1.2(a) of this Article is met.

(E) Advancement of Expenses

1. Expenses incurred in defending such Proceeding may be paid by the Club in advance of the final disposition of the Proceeding, without any of the authorizations or determinations specified in Sections 14(C) and 14(D) of this Article, upon receipt of a written affirmation by the Person of their good faith belief that he/she has met the standard of conduct necessary for indemnification under applicable law and a written undertaking by or on behalf of the Person to repay such amount unless it ultimately is determined that he/she is entitled to be indemnified by the Association as authorized in this Section. The written undertaking must be an unlimited general obligation of the Person but need not be secured. It may be accepted without reference to financial ability to make payment.
2. Provided that the written affirmation and undertaking described in Section 1.5(a) are received by the Association from a Person to be paid or reimbursed for fees incurred and as to whom indemnification is mandatory under Sections 14(A) or 14(B)1 of this Article, such payment or reimbursement will be deemed to be authorized.

- (F) Other Rights. The indemnification provided by these bylaws may not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which a Person seeking indemnification may be entitled under the Articles of Incorporation, these bylaws, a resolution of directors, an agreement or otherwise both as to action in their Official Capacity and as to action in any Other Capacity, and will continue as to such Person after the termination of such capacity and will inure to the benefit of their heirs, executors and administrators; provided, however, that any provision for the Association to indemnify or to advance expenses to a director, whether contained in the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, a resolution of directors, an agreement or otherwise, is valid only to the extent it is consistent with the Texas Business Organizations Code, as limited by the Articles of Incorporation, if such a limitation exists.

Section Fifteen. **Insurance.** The Club shall obtain the following: (a) Comprehensive General Liability Insurance; (b) Business Automobile Liability Insurance including Owned, Hired and Non-Owned Auto Liability with limits in amounts no less than those "Required as Underlying Limits of Liability" to purchase an Umbrella Liability Policy; (c) Workers Compensation/Employers Liability Insurance; with limits in amounts no less than those "Required as Underlying Limits

of Liability” to purchase an Umbrella Liability Policy; (d) an Umbrella Liability Policy protecting the Club, the Board, Officers, Employees, committee members, volunteers and/or Agents of the Club, in a combined single limit amount of not less than five million dollars (\$5,000,000); (e) Directors and Officers Liability/ Employment Practices Liability with a limit of not less than two million dollars (\$2,000,000); (f) Crime/Employee Theft coverage with a minimum limit of five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000); and (g) Commercial Property insurance covering the Club’s buildings, contents and common areas for the full insurable replacement value. The Board of Directors shall have the authority to procure whatever other forms or types of insurance as it deems advisable. If the forms or policies required by this paragraph are superseded, discontinued or unavailable, the Club shall have the right to provide other equivalent policies when feasible.

Each Homeowner shall be responsible for his own personal liability or loss for areas within the exclusive use and occupancy of such homeowner.

Section Sixteen. **Funding of Debt.** Payment of contracted debt shall take precedence in the use of Club revenues and in the budgeting of Club expenses. Appropriate debt service payments for any and all contracted debt shall be included in each annual or project budget. Any revenues designated or earmarked for use in capital projects and/or the servicing of debt for such projects shall be faithfully and continuously set aside for such use. Alternative, reliable revenues may be substituted for such designated or earmarked revenues, provided that such substitutions comply with the requirements of any contracts for debt. No budget action shall be taken which abrogates or fails to fulfill the requirements of a contract for debt.

ARTICLE IX. DUES, FEES, AND ASSESSMENTS

Section One. **Dues.** Dues for the fiscal year shall be established by the Board of Directors and incorporated in the budget for a fiscal year. Any increase in dues over the previous year shall be discussed and explained to the members at the budget presentation. Dues shall not be changed within the fiscal year except by two-thirds (2/3) vote of the members of the Board of Directors. Dues shall be payable in advance on the first (1st) day of each consecutive month.

Section Two. **Fees.** Appropriate fees for usage of Club facilities and/or property shall be set and rigidly enforced, by direction of the Board of Directors.

Section Three. **Initiation Fees.** Initiation fees shall be established by the Board of Directors. These fees shall not be changed for one (1) year after adoption. The fees may be reviewed and appropriately increased or decreased for succeeding years. The Board of Directors, by vote of two-thirds (2/3) of its members, may waive initiation fees in individual cases of inheritance or intra-family transfer of ownership of membership lots.

Section Four. **Suspension and Reinstatement of Club Privileges.** The month’s billing to membership includes any membership approved assessment charges; any charges made within the Food and Beverage department, any charges made within the Golf Pro Shop department, any Club assessed fines; as well as those monthly charges per membership including dues and service fees for services such as fire protection and garbage collection.

(A) The monthly billing is due on the last day of the month for which it is billed. If this billing is not paid by the first (1st) day of the month following the month for which it was billed, the member’s account is classified as being in arrears. The Club will send a courtesy notice to the member which will provide clarification as to the accountability of the member and the process which will ensue.

- (B) The member shall have until the fifteenth (15th) of the month of this courtesy notice to satisfy the required payment. If this payment is not made, the member's account shall be classified as being in arrears and the "charging against the member's account" for both merchandise and services within the Food and Beverage department and the Golf Pro Shop department shall immediately be suspended.
- (C) The use of Club common areas may still be utilized with any services and/or merchandise purchased requiring payment with the use of a personal credit card.
- (D) When any member of the Club is in arrears in payment of dues, fees, assessments, charges, and fines for a period of thirty (30) days, Club membership shall, following due process as required by TRP, be suspended and a nonrefundable late fee established by the Board of Directors shall be added for each month that the account remains delinquent.
- (E) Membership privileges are, but not limited to, the use of Club common areas: (1) golf course; (2) clubhouse; (3) Lodge; (4) Marina; (5) Community Building; (6) parks; (7) swimming pool; (9) beach; (10) tennis courts; (11) pickle ball courts; (12) and lakes. Membership privileges suspended under this section are reinstated on the first (1st) day of the calendar month following full payment of the delinquent amount.
- (F) Payment of less than the full delinquent amount is not grounds for reinstatement of privileges.

Section Five. **Account in Default.** Should a member's account (which includes, but is not limited to, dues, fees, assessments, charges, and fines) remain in arrears after all other reasonable attempts to collect have failed, the Club shall place a lien upon the member's lot or lots, second only to tax liens and existing mortgages. A suit may then be filed by or on behalf of the Club to enforce foreclosure in any court of competent jurisdiction with venue in Smith County, Texas.

ARTICLE X. RECORDS AND REPORTS

Section One. **Books and Records.** All records, books, and annual reports of the financial activity of the Club, including minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors and of the membership, shall be kept at the principal office of the Club in accordance with statutory requirements.

Section Two. **Availability.** The Club shall, in accordance with the terms of the TRP 209.005, make the books and records of the association open and reasonably available to an owner of property in the Hide-A-Way Lake or Lake Hide-A-Way Subdivisions in Smith County, Texas, or a person designated in writing signed by an owner as the owner's agent, attorney, or certified public accountant.

ARTICLE XI. AMENDMENTS TO BYLAWS

Section One. **Power of Members to Amend Bylaws.** The bylaws of the Club shall be amended, repealed, or added to, or new bylaws shall be adopted, by written vote of fifty percent (50%) plus one (1) of members casting votes on such amendment, repeal, addition, or adoption. The text of the proposed revision shall be made available for inspection at least twenty-five (25) days in advance of the date by which such votes are to be cast. The text shall be posted at the Club office and on the Club's website at least twenty-five (25) days in advance of the date by which such votes are to be cast.

Section Two. **Power of Directors to Amend Bylaws.** The Board of Directors may, by majority vote of its members, amend those bylaws relating to Board committees. The Board of Directors shall, by a majority vote, amend those bylaws mandated by law. The text of the proposed revision shall be made available for inspection at least twenty-five (25) days

in advance of the meeting at which such amendment is to be considered. The text shall be posted at the Club office and on the Club's website at least twenty-five (25) days in advance of the meeting at which such amendment is to be considered.

ARTICLE XII. ELECTIONS AND REFERENDA

Section One. Election Committee. The Board of Directors shall, as soon as practical after installation in office each year, but no later than thirty (30) days prior to any election or referendum, designate five (5) Club members to serve as an Election Committee, which shall conduct and supervise all elections and referenda. At the Committee's first meeting, it shall elect a chairman and a vice-chairman. The Committee shall receive and certify the filing of applications of all candidates for the Board of Directors, supervise preparation of ballots, receive and have sole custody of ballots, and tally and certify results of all such balloting to the Board of Directors, subject to Club bylaws. The committee shall also certify petitions and supervise the preparation of referendum ballots. The Committee, with the approval of the Board of Directors, shall adopt rules for conduct of elections consistent with these bylaws. No member of the election committee shall be an officer, director, or salaried employee of the Club.

Section Two. Manner of Elections. The Election Committee may elect to conduct elections and referenda by one of three methods: (a) Electronic voting as permitted by Texas state law for homeowners associations; (b) distribution of ballots by mail to all memberships, with return of the ballots by mail or by hand by a specified date; or (c) casting of ballots by memberships at a polling place on a specific date, with adequate provision for request and return of absentee ballots by the election date. All ballots other than electronic ballots shall require a signature of the voting member.

Section Three. Tabulation of and access to ballots. See the Club election handbook.

Section Four. Election of Directors. All directors shall be elected at large for three (3) year terms.

- (A) Any qualified member desiring to be elected as a director, shall file a notarized application to be listed as a candidate for one (1) of the specified four (4) positions to be filled annually before the established time of the closing of the administrative office on the second (2nd) Monday in May of each year.
- (B) The Election Committee shall determine the form of ballot and procedure for distributing, casting, and counting the ballots.
- (C) The election, or the deadline for return of ballots, shall take place no earlier than the second (2nd) Monday in June and no later than the third (3rd) Monday in June.
 - 1. In a contested election the four (4) candidates receiving the largest number of votes shall be declared elected. They shall be sworn in and take office at the end of the first regular meeting of the Board of Directors in July prior to the election of officers.
 - 2. If there are not more than four candidates, the four or fewer applicants shall be declared elected directors in accordance with TRP Section 209.0058 (c). They shall be sworn in and take office at the end of the first regular meeting of the Board of Directors in July prior to the election of officers and prior to the Board of Directors filling vacancies occurring due to fewer than four candidates.
 - 3. If there are fewer than four candidates the Board of Directors shall fill uncontested board positions at the first regular meeting of the Board of Directors in July prior to the election of officers by the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors and they shall be declared elected. They shall be sworn in and take office prior to the election of officers.
- (D) In the case of tie votes in a contested election, the Election Committee shall call and conduct appropriate runoff elections within four (4) weeks of the first ballot.

Section Five. **Initiative**

Members in good standing who wish to present a request for action to the Board of Directors exercise the right of initiative in the following manner.

- (A) Letter of Request. Members may submit a written and signed request to the Board of Directors, clearly and specifically setting forth the requested action and the reasons for same. If the Board of Directors does not, within forty-five (45) days, initiate an action to respond to the request or does not, within ninety (90) days, complete an action which addresses the request to the satisfaction of the requestor(s), the member(s) may initiate a referendum on the issue or request in the following manner.
- (B) Initiative Petition.
1. Petition Requirements. A petition, signed by fifteen (15) percent of the members eligible to vote, may be submitted to the Board of Directors on any matters concerning the Club, and its interconnected organizations, with the exception of matters involving financial matters or personnel matters. The action requested shall be clearly and completely set forth on each page of the petition which contains signatures. Each signature on the petition shall be accompanied by the following legible information: (a) name printed; (b) lot number; (c) address; (d) and telephone number. Members eligible to cast both votes of a membership may sign twice. One (1) or more persons shall be designated as “sponsors” of the petition to exercise the responsibilities listed below.
 2. Petition Verification. The petition shall be presented by the Board of Directors to the Election Committee, which shall, within thirty (30) days, verify the sufficiency of the petition by determining whether it represents at least fifteen (15) percent of the memberships qualified to vote.
 3. Board Response. If the petition is found to be sufficient (representing at least fifteen (15) percent of the memberships eligible to vote), the Board of Directors shall have twenty (20) days in which to enact measures designed to fulfill the action requested by the petition.
 4. Referendum. If, within thirty (30) days following the time allotted for a Board response, the petition sponsors advise the Board of Directors or the Board President that the Board of Directors has failed to satisfy the action requested, it shall be the duty of the Board of Directors to call for a binding referendum on the issue, to be held within forty-five (45) days. The form of the ballot shall be prepared by the Election Committee, shall call for a “yes” or “no” vote, and shall include the full and original text of the petition request. The approval of two-thirds (2/3) of the Club members voting shall be required for passage.
 5. The requirements of this section only apply to referenda initiated by the membership through the petition process. If the proposition does not pass, the circumstances are as though an election was never held. A second initiative concerning the same requested action(s) is prohibited for one (1) calendar year after the completion of the election regarding the first initiative process.

Section Six. **Referenda.**

- (A) The Board of Directors may call a binding referendum on any subject within its authority. The proposition to be submitted to referendum shall be drafted by the Bylaws and Rules Committee and must pass a majority vote of the Board of Directors before posting to the membership. Posting shall be done at least twenty-five (25) days prior to a final vote by the Board of Directors to submit the referendum to the members. Posting shall be given by the following methods: (1) posting at the office of the Club; (2) placing on the Club web site; (3) and by electronic email to an address provided by the member. If the Board approves the final version of the referendum

proposition with a majority vote, the Election Committee shall prepare a ballot and conduct a vote of the membership. The approval of fifty (50) percent plus one (1) of the Club members voting is required for passage. If the proposition does not pass, the circumstances are as though an election was never held.

(B) The Board of Directors shall not take any of the following actions without the approval of fifty (50) percent plus one (1) of the Club members voting in a binding referendum:

1. Assessments of any kind. An assessment is defined as any levy of a specific amount, imposed on the membership for: (a) a specific project for a specific length of time; (b) or as a lump sum. This provision shall not apply to dues levied to meet the requirements of an annual operating budget or dues levied to meet the requirements of a court order or mandated by law.
2. Any action resulting in the expansion of the platted boundaries of the Club, any increase in the total number of lots, any increase in the total memberships available exceeding one thousand nine hundred forty-four (1,944), or any action which would otherwise materially dilute the interest of the membership in the assets of the Club.
3. The purchase, sale, or exchange of land or property rights owned by the Club of an appraised value in excess of one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000).
4. Any proposal for a capital improvement (including, but not limited to, new construction or refurbishment to facilities) with an estimated cost, provided by a competent contractor or by a licensed architect or engineer, in excess of three hundred thousand dollars (\$300,000).
5. Overturn or modify any action passed through a referendum vote of the membership held pursuant to this article.
6. Amendments of bylaws relating to: (a) membership qualifications, rights, and privileges; (b) meetings of the board of directors and the general membership; (c) the board of directors (except Board committees and meeting procedures); (d) officers; (e) financial control; (f) dues, fees, and assessments; (g) bylaw amendments; (h) elections, initiative, and referenda; (i) miscellaneous provisions; (j) and protection of the Club's nonprofit status. Excepted from this provision are changes mandated by law, which shall be enacted by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE XIII. MISCELLANEOUS

Section One. Corporate Seal. The Board of Directors shall provide a corporate seal, which shall be in the form of a circle and shall have inscribed thereon the words "Corporate Seal of Hide-A-Way Lake Club, Inc."

Section Two. Dissolution. The Club may be dissolved by resolution, approved by at least two-thirds (2/3) of the members entitled to vote, at a meeting called specifically for that purpose. At least ninety (90) days notice of such meeting shall be given to the members. Notice shall be given by the following methods: (a) written or printed notice transmitted to each membership eligible to vote by United States mail at the most current address according to the Club records; (b) prominently published notice in a newspaper of general circulation in the community; (c) by electronic email to an address provided by the member; (d) and posting at the Club office. Members may vote in person, by mail, or by written proxy given to another member and effective only for the special meeting to consider dissolution. Authority to dissolve, liquidate or conclude the affairs of the Club may be delegated by resolution approved by at least two-thirds (2/3) of the members entitled to vote. Such authority may be given in general or specific terms to the Board of Directors for exercise in accordance with the relative provisions of the Texas Non-Profit Corporation Act.

Section Three. Effective Date. All additions or changes to these bylaws become effective thirty (30) days after the requisite affirmative vote by either the Club Board of Directors or the Club membership occurs.

Section Four. Proceedings. These bylaws shall have prospective effect only, and shall not alter or modify to any extent any existing legal obligations of the Club, and shall not impair any binding contracts heretofore legally entered into by the Club.

Section Five. **Separability.** If a court of competent jurisdiction holds any section or article of these bylaws invalid, such holding shall not affect the remainder of these bylaws nor the context in which such section or article may appear, except to the extent that an article may be inseparably connected in meaning and effect with the section and article declared invalid.

ARTICLE XIV. PROTECTION OF NON-PROFIT STATUS

The Club shall do no act which constitutes a basis for denial of tax exemption under applicable laws.

In particular:

(A) The Club shall not:

1. Lend any part of its income or corpus without the receipt of adequate security and a reasonable rate of interest; or
2. Pay any compensation, in excess of a reasonable allowance for salaries or other compensation for personal services actually rendered; or
3. Make any part of its services available on a preferential basis; or
4. Make any substantial purchase of securities or any other property, for more than adequate consideration in money or money's worth; or
5. Sell any substantial part of its securities or other property, for less than an adequate consideration in money or money's worth; or
6. Engage in any other transaction which results in a substantial diversion of its income or corpus to a person who has made a substantial contribution to the Club; a member of the family of such person; or a corporation controlled by such person.

(B) The Club shall not accumulate out of income amounts which are:

1. Unreasonable in amount or duration in order to carry out the purpose or function constituting the basis for tax exemption of the Club; or
2. Used to a substantial degree for purposes or functions other than those constituting the basis for tax exemption; or
3. Invested in such manner as to jeopardize the carrying out of the purpose or function constituting the basis for tax exemption.